
 

The Supreme  Court of South Carolina  
In the Matter of  William Gary  
White, III,  Respondent.  

______________________  
 

ORDER  
______________________  

 
  Respondent was  recently suspended from the practice of law in 

this state for  six  months.   In the Matter of  White, Op. No. 26482  (S.C. Sup.  

Ct. filed  May 12, 2008).   The Office of Disciplinary Counsel has requested  

the appointment of an attorney to protect the interests of respondent’s clients  

pursuant  to Rule 31, RLDE,  Rule 413, SCACR.  

   IT IS ORDERED that  B. Michael Brackett, Esquire, is hereby 

appointed to assume responsibility for respondent’s client  files, trust  

account(s), escrow  account(s), operating account(s), and any other law office 

accounts respondent may  maintain.  Mr. Brackett  shall take action as required 

by Rule 31, RLDE,  Rule 413, SCACR,  to protect the interests of  

respondent’s clients.  Mr. Brackett  may make disbursements from  

respondent’s trust account(s), escrow account(s), operating account(s), and 

any other law office accounts  respondent may maintain that are necessary to  

effectuate this appointment.  
1 



 

   This Order, when served on any bank or other financial  

institution maintaining trust, escrow and/or operating account(s) of  

respondent, shall serve as an injunction to prevent respondent from  making 

withdrawals from the account(s) and shall further serve as notice to the bank 

or other financial institution that  B. Michael Brackett,  Esquire, has been duly  

appointed by this Court.  

   Finally, this Order, when served on any office of the United  

States Postal Service, shall serve as notice that  B. Michael  Brackett, Esquire, 

has been duly appointed by this Court and has the authority to receive  

respondent’s mail and the authority to direct that respondent’s mail be  

delivered to Mr. Brackett’s office.  

   Mr. Brackett’s appointment shall be for  a period of no longer  

than nine months unless an extension of the period of appointment is  

requested.  

   IT IS SO ORDERED.  

 
     s/ Costa M. Pleicones      J.  

       FOR THE COURT  
 
Columbia, South Carolina  
May 16, 2008  
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JUSTICE PLEICONES: This is a direct appeal from a grant of partial 
summary judgment to the City of North Charleston.  The issue on appeal is 
whether the Town of Summerville complied with a statute which requires the 
publication of notice not less than thirty days prior to acting on a petition to 
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annex real property. Because the Town of Summerville did not comply with 
the statute, we affirm. 

FACTS 

This is an annexation dispute between neighboring municipalities.  At 
some point in 2005, both the Town of Summerville and the City of North 
Charleston desired to annex a portion of real property known as the Barry 
Tract.  In April 2005, Summerville enacted an ordinance declaring the Barry 
Tract annexed. Believing Summerville’s annexation to be invalid, North 
Charleston enacted its annexation ordinance in June 2005.  The 
municipalities sued each other, and the cases were consolidated for trial. 

The record reflects that both municipalities utilized the annexation 
procedure set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 5-3-150 (2004), which originates 
with a petition initiated by the owners of the property sought to be annexed. 
The statute provides that annexation is complete upon the enactment of an 
ordinance and requires the annexing municipality to publish notice of a 
public hearing “not less than thirty days before acting on an annexation 
petition . . . .” Id. North Charleston moved for summary judgment on the 
question whether thirty days elapsed between April 28, 2005, the date 
Summerville published notice of its hearing, and May 27, 2005, the date 
Summerville enacted its annexation ordinance.  The trial court held that thirty 
days had not elapsed in this period, and Summerville appealed. We certified 
the appeal from the court of appeals pursuant to Rule 204(b), SCACR. 

ISSUE 

Did the trial court err in holding that less than thirty days elapsed 
between April 28, 2005, and May 27, 2005? 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, an appellate court 
applies the same standard used by the trial court. Lanham v. Blue Cross and 
Blue Shield of S.C., Inc., 349 S.C. 356, 361, 536 S.E.2d 331, 333 (2002).  A 
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grant of summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to 
any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of 
law. Rule 56(c), SCRCP; Tupper v. Dorchester County, 326 S.C. 318, 325, 
487 S.E.2d 187, 191 (1997). Determining the proper interpretation of a 
statute is a question of law, and this Court reviews questions of law de novo. 
Catawba Indian Tribe v. State, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 
(2007). 

ANALYSIS 

Summerville argues that under a plausible construction of the 
annexation statute at issue, a “day” can be measured by the lapse of twenty-
four hours from a relevant time.  Put in terms of the statute at issue, 
Summerville argues that § 5-3-150 requires that a municipality publish notice 
of a public hearing not less than thirty twenty-four hour periods prior to 
acting on an annexation petition.  Summerville argues that it enacted its 
annexation ordinance at 5:30 p.m., May 27, and that counting the days that 
elapsed by twenty-four hour periods, the twenty-ninth day prior to its 
enacting the ordinance ended at 5:30 p.m., April 28, 2005. Summerville 
therefore posits that if the notification in the newspaper occurred at 5:00 a.m. 
the morning of April 28, it occurred midway through the thirtieth day and 
complied with the annexation statute’s notice requirement.  We disagree. 

Summerville’s argument fails on its own terms. Assuming that the 
lapse of thirty sequential twenty-four hour periods provides the measuring 
stick, 5:30 p.m., May 27, and 5:00 a.m., April 28, are separated by 29 days, 
12 hours, and 30 minutes. Converting thirty days to a number of hours of 
required notice, the statute would then mandate that notice be published “not 
less than [720 hours] before acting on an annexation petition . . . .” Id. In 
this case, publication and action were separated by 708 hours, 30 minutes. 
As a quantitative reality, this is less than thirty days.1 

1 Summerville attempts to draw a distinction between a requirement of “not 
less than thirty days” and a fictional requirement of “at least thirty days,” but 
this distinction suffers from a similar flaw.  If a brief filed in court must be 
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In fact, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-29-10 (2005) provides a specific method 
for computing time for publication of notices.  The statute provides that 
“[t]he time for publication of legal notices shall be computed so as to exclude 
the first day of publication and include the day on which the act or event, of 
which notice is given, is to happen or which completes the full period 
required for publication.”  Id. Using this method, April 28, the day of 
publication, is excluded.  Counting forward, May 27 is twenty-nine days 
from the publication of the notice.  Thus, using the statutory counting method 
for legal notices, we conclude that Summerville did not comply with the 
relevant public notice requirement in this case. 

The parties offer additional arguments on alternative methods of 
counting time, but those arguments are largely inconsequential.  North 
Charleston posits that Summerville’s argument fails even under its own 
ordinance dealing with computation of time.  While North Charleston is 
correct, it is clear that a local ordinance cannot, absent some authorization or 
directive, control how time is computed under a state statute.  Similarly, this 
Court’s rules contain procedures for computing time, see Rule 6, SCRCP and 
Rule 234, SCACR, and while these rules unquestionably apply in their 
respective spheres, they are neither dispositive nor are they helpful in 
answering the question at hand.  In this case, a statute requires that published 
notice precede a public meeting by a specific time period, and a separate 
statute specifically explains how time is to be computed for the publication of 
legal notices. 

Summerville’s more basic argument about how a “day” is defined is 
not supported by our precedent. We have held that “[t]he word ‘day,’ in its 
common acceptation, means a civil day of twenty-four hours, beginning and 
ending at midnight,” Corwin v. Comptroller Gen., 6 S.C. 390, 399 (1875), 
and that “[f]ractions of days are not recognized in our laws.” Williams v. 
Halford, 64 S.C. 396, 402, 42 S.E. 187, 189 (1902). Corwin interprets the 
word “day” in the context of the South Carolina Constitution’s requirement 

not less than four pages in length, a three and one-half page brief would not 
suffice. 
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that the Governor veto and return a bill or resolution within three days 
(Sundays excepted) or the bill shall become law,2 and Williams dealt with the 
predecessor to Rule 6(a), SCRCP’s rule on computation of time, found in the 
1893 Code of Civil Procedure at § 407. These cases instruct that where a 
time requirement does not speak in terms of specific hour periods, the Court 
will not interpret a day to mean anything other than a calendar day. See also 
Cleveland v. Calvert, 54 S.C. 83, 86, 31 S.E. 871, 872 (1899) (applying § 421 
of the 1893 Code, the predecessor of the current publication statute, and 
concluding that notice appearing twenty-one days prior to action complied 
with statutory requirement of three weeks’ notice). We adhere to this 
pronouncement, and note that where the legislature desires for the passage of 
a specific number of hours to precede an action, it has shown a propensity for 
writing precisely such a requirement. See, e.g., S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-130 
(2004) (containing a notice requirement of specific hours). 

The fact that there are multiple rules for computing time is not all 
together surprising. As far back as the 1870 Code, South Carolina’s statutory 
law contained separate rules for computing time periods spelled out in 
procedural rules and time periods for the publication of legal notices. See 
1870 Code of Civ. Pro. §§ 421, 422. Accordingly, old civil procedure cases 
relied on the version of the procedural rule then in effect, and old publication 
cases pulled from the applicable publication rule. All of this simply means 
that the method for computing time in a particular case may be prescribed by 
statute, court rule, local ordinance, or some other authority, and the answer 
we supply today is that where a time prescription mentions only the passage 
of a number of days, a “day” means a calendar day, beginning and ending at 
midnight. 

CONCLUSION 

We hold that summary judgment was properly granted in favor of the 
City of North Charleston on the question whether less than thirty days 
elapsed between April 28, 2005, the date Summerville published notice of its 

2 The requirement is now five days. See S.C. Const. Art. IV, § 21. 
17 



 

 
 

 
   
 
  

hearing, and May 27, 2005, the date Summerville enacted its annexation 
ordinance.  The order of the circuit court is 

AFFIRMED. 

TOAL, C.J., MOORE, WALLER and BEATTY, JJ., concur. 
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CHIEF JUSTICE TOAL: A jury found Appellant Derringer Young 
(Young) guilty of kidnapping and assault and battery of a high and 
aggravated nature (ABHAN) as a lesser included offense of criminal sexual 
conduct (CSC) stemming from a drug transaction with a female victim.  
Young appealed on the grounds that the trial court improperly admitted 
evidence of prior convictions for CSC and criminal domestic violence 
(CDV).  The court of appeals affirmed Young’s conviction and this Court 
granted certiorari.  We affirm the decision of the court of appeals as 
modified. 

FACTUAL/PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

Young was charged with kidnapping, first-degree CSC, and possession 
with intent to distribute (PWID) stemming from a drug transaction with a 
female victim (Victim).  Young pled guilty to the PWID charge and went to 
trial for the remaining charges. Young and Victim each testified at trial, 
giving different accounts of the night in question. 

Victim testified that following dinner with her husband one evening, 
she drove to downtown Charleston alone to purchase crack cocaine for 
herself and her husband.  She had purchased crack in this manner before and 
approached Young because he looked familiar from her past dealings. 
Victim sampled crack from Young and requested an amount to buy. Young 
did not have the desired amount on him, so Victim agreed to give him a ride 
in her vehicle to find more crack to purchase.  

While driving around, Victim testified that she and Young smoked 
some of Young’s crack together.  Victim described Young as having a 
pleasant demeanor and testified that they initially got along with no 
problems. However, Victim claimed that after Young was able to locate and 
purchase the additional crack she requested, Young became angry when she 
told him she was going to take the crack home to smoke with her husband. 
Victim testified that at that point, Young hit her across the face and in the 
back of the head. Victim testified that Young forced his way into the driver’s 
seat, drove to a secluded area, tied Victim’s hands together, and raped her. 
Afterwards, Young drove around downtown Charleston all night, buying and 
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selling crack out of Victim’s car while Victim remained in the front seat with 
her hands bound. 

Victim recounted that around nine o’clock the next morning, a 
Charleston police officer spotted Young and Victim in Victim’s car in a 
parking lot behind an abandoned warehouse.  Victim mouthed “please help 
me” to the officer. When Young saw the officer, he jumped into the driver’s 
seat and sped away. Police located Young and Victim about ten minutes later 
and immediately arrested Young. Police noticed red marks and bruising on 
Victim’s wrists and neck, and Victim was taken immediately to MUSC and 
given a rape exam, which was inconclusive as to whether sexual assault had 
occurred.  Examiners also noted bruising on Victim’s face, neck, and arms, as 
well as marks on each wrist. 

After the State called its last witness at trial, Young raised the issue of 
the admissibility of his prior convictions under Rule 609, SCRE, in an in 
camera hearing.  Young had prior convictions for third-degree CSC, third-
degree burglary, possession of a stolen vehicle, and failure to register as a sex 
offender.  The trial court allowed the State to introduce evidence of Young’s 
convictions for third-degree burglary and for possession of a stolen vehicle as 
general impeachment evidence under Rule 609(a)(1) and (a)(2) for the 
purpose of attacking Young’s credibility as a witness.  The trial court did not 
allow the State to refer specifically to the prior CSC conviction, but instead 
allowed the State to impeach Young’s credibility by referring to the prior 
CSC conviction as “another felony for which he has been convicted.”1 The 
trial court also acknowledged that Young could open the door, via his 
testimony, to the admissibility of other prior convictions, including specific 
reference to the third-degree CSC conviction. 

1 The trial court did not allow introduction of the conviction for failure to 
register as a sex offender, finding that it was not a crime of dishonesty under 
Rule 609(a)(2), and that although the crime was punishable by imprisonment 
in excess of one year, the prejudicial effect of the conviction outweighed its 
probative value under Rule 403, SCRE. 
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Following the trial court’s in camera ruling, Young testified to a 
drastically different version of the facts surrounding his encounter with 
Victim. Young recounted that he sold crack to Victim and then rode in her 
car to a place where she could smoke the crack discretely.  After Young and 
Victim finished smoking the crack Victim had purchased, Young testified 
that Victim requested more crack, but she did not have any money.  Young 
agreed to get the drugs for her because he trusted her to pay him later. 
Thereafter, for the next several hours, Young and Victim smoked crack 
supplied by Young. 

At one point, after Young left the car to purchase drugs, another drug 
dealer began talking to Victim.  Young said he became angry because he 
thought Victim was trying to find another crack dealer. Young further 
testified that at Victim’s insistence, the other drug dealer rode with them to a 
secluded spot where Young exited the vehicle, and Victim performed oral sex 
on the other drug dealer in exchange for crack cocaine. 

After dropping off the other drug dealer, Young stated that he was 
upset with Victim for demeaning herself and for betraying their “bond.” 
They continued to drive around and smoke crack, and around 5 o’clock in the 
morning, Victim became upset about making Young angry.  According to 
Young, Victim began crying and seeking Young’s forgiveness.  Young 
testified that he “hated[d] to see a female cry” and forgave her. 

Following Young’s direct examination, the State argued that Young 
opened the door to admission of his prior convictions for CSC in the third 
degree and for CDV by introducing evidence of his good character towards 
women with his comment about hating to see a woman cry. The trial judge 
ruled that Young had placed a character trait in issue and therefore allowed 
the State to impeach Young by asking him about his prior convictions for 
CDV and CSC. 

The jury found Young guilty of kidnapping and ABHAN as a lesser 
included offense of CSC.  The trial court sentenced Young to concurrent 
sentences of twenty-two years for kidnapping, ten years for ABHAN, and 
five years for the PWID charge. Young appealed on the grounds that the trial 
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court improperly admitted evidence of Young’s prior convictions for CDV 
and CSC for impeachment purpose.  The court of appeals affirmed Young’s 
convictions in State v. Young, 364 S.C. 476, 613 S.E.2d 386 (Ct. App. 2005).  
This Court granted certiorari to review the court of appeals’ decision, and 
Young raises the following issue for review: 

Did the court of appeals err in affirming the admission of 
Young’s prior convictions for impeachment purposes after 
Young “opened the door” with evidence of his good character 
towards women? 

LAW/ANALYSIS 

Young argues that he did not open the door so that his prior conviction 
for CSC and CDV could be used to impeach him. We agree. 

Evidence of a defendant’s character is generally not admissible to show 
a propensity to act accordingly.  Rule 404(a)(1), SCRE.  However, when the 
accused offers evidence of his good character regarding specific character 
traits relevant to the crime charged, the solicitor has the right to cross-
examine him as to particular bad acts or conduct. State v. Major, 301 S.C. 
181, 391 S.E.2d 235 (1990).  The State is restricted to showing bad character 
only for the traits initially focused on by the accused, and impeachment may 
be done by introducing prior convictions with extrinsic evidence. Id. at 185, 
391 S.E.2d at 238. 

We find that Young’s testimony that he hated to see a woman cry did 
not open the door for the admission of his prior CDV and CSC convictions. 
Reading Young’s testimony in its proper context, Young was not offering 
evidence of a specific character trait towards women in general.  Rather, the 
isolated statement used to justify admission of the prior CDV and CSC 
convictions was simply part of Young’s narrative recounting his version of 
the events that occurred on the night in question.  For this reason, the State 
was limited to presenting evidence admissible under Rule 609, SCRE, to 
impeach Young’s credibility.  Pursuant to Rule 609(a)(1), such evidence is 
limited to prior convictions for crimes punishable by imprisonment in excess 
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of one year, subject to Rule 403. Additionally, Rule 609(a)(2) permits 
evidence of convictions for crimes involving dishonesty. 

In this case, questioning Young generally on “another felony for which 
he ha[d] been convicted,” as the trial court properly permitted in the first 
instance pursuant to Rule 609, SCRE, was entirely sufficient to impeach 
Young’s credibility.  We find that the State’s use of a specific prior 
conviction for the same offense that Young was currently standing trial for 
was only a thinly-veiled attempt to show propensity, rather than a sincere 
attempt at impeachment of Young’s credibility.  For this reason, we hold that 
the trial court erred in admitting Young’s prior CDV and CSC convictions to 
impeach Young. State v. Dunlap, 353 S.C. 539, 542, 579 S.E.2d 318, 320 
(2003) (ruling that when a prior crime is similar to the one for which the 
defendant is being tried, the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant from 
impeachment by the prior offense weighs against its admission); Green v. 
State, 338 S.C. 428, 433-34, 527 S.E.2d 98, 101 (2000) (finding that in 
admitting evidence pursuant to Rule 609, the trial court must consider the 
impeachment value of the prior crime, the timing of the prior crime, the 
similarity between the past crime and the charged crime, the importance of 
the defendant’s testimony, and the centrality of the credibility issue). 

Young contends that because the trial court erred by admitting his prior 
CDV and CSC convictions, his convictions in this case should be reversed. 
We disagree. 

In order for this Court to reverse a case based on erroneous admission 
of evidence, prejudice must be shown. State v. Bell, 302 S.C. 18, 27, 393 
S.E.2d 364, 369 (1990).  In this case, we find that the trial court’s error was 
harmless.  The jury took all the evidence into account and acquitted Young of 
CSC, indicating that the introduction of Young’s prior CDV and CSC 
convictions did not affect the jury.  Furthermore, there was substantial 
evidence in the record on which the jury could have found him guilty on the 
other charges.  Accordingly, we affirm Young’s convictions for kidnapping 
and ABHAN. 
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CONCLUSION  

 
For  the foregoing reasons, we hold that the trial court committed 

harmless error in allowing the State to introduce Young’s prior convictions   
for CDV and CSC.  Accordingly, we affirm the decision of  the court of  
appeals as modified and affirm Young’s conviction for kidnapping and  
ABHAN.   
 
  
 MOORE, WALLER, BEATTY, JJ., and  Acting Justice Diane 
Schafer Goodstein, concur.  
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GOOLSBY, A.J.:  This is an appeal from an order of the  
Administrative  Law  Court  (ALC)  granting SGM-Moonglo, Inc. (Moonglo)  
an off-premises beer and wine permit.   We affirm.  1  

 
FACTS  

 
In 1975, Marjorie Smith sold a tract of  real property to Virginia Miller.   

Smith’s deed to Miller contained a restrictive covenant prohibiting the sale of  
alcoholic beverages on the  premises.   Moonglo purchased the property in 
August 2006, and  operates a truck stop on the property.    

 
Moonglo applied to the South Carolina  Department of Revenue (DOR)  

for an off-premises  beer and wine permit.   After several  area residents filed 
protests, DOR denied the application.   Moonglo then requested a contested 
case hearing before the ALC.   

 
Prior to the hearing,  the A LC granted Smith’s  motion  to intervene to 

enforce the restrictive covenant.   After  a hearing, the ALC granted Moonglo 
an off-premises beer and wine permit, finding the  property  was  a suitable 
location and Moonglo met all applicable statutory requirements for obtaining  
the permit.   The ALC held it did not have jurisdiction to enforce a restrictive  
covenant because its jurisdiction  was limited to whether a proposed location  
meets the criteria established by statute and case law.   Smith appeals.2  

1 We decide this case without oral argument pursuant to Rule 215, SCACR. 
2 Smith also filed a separate civil action in Lexington County seeking an 
injunction to prohibit the sale of alcohol pursuant to the restrictive covenant. 
This action is pending. 
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LAW / ANALYSIS 

Smith argues the ALC should have considered the existence of the 
restrictive covenant as a factor in determining whether to grant Moonglo’s 
petition for a beer and wine permit.  Smith contends the truck stop is not a 
suitable location for a permit because the restrictive covenant prohibits the 
sale of alcohol on the property. 

Section 1-23-610 of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2006) sets forth 
the applicable standard of review when the court of appeals sits in review of a 
decision by the ALC. “The review of the administrative law judge’s order 
must be confined to the record.”3 The court of appeals may reverse or 
modify the decision only if the appellant’s substantive rights have been 
prejudiced because the decision is clearly erroneous in light of the reliable 
and substantial evidence on the whole record, arbitrary or otherwise 
characterized by an abuse of discretion, or affected by other error of law.4 

An administrative agency has only the powers conferred on it by law 
and must act within the authority created for that purpose.5 Pursuant to 
section 61-4-520 of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2006), the ALC must 
determine whether a proposed location is proper and suitable prior to granting 
an off-premises beer and wine permit. Restrictions in the chain of title of a 
proposed location, however, are not a legitimate concern of the ALC in 
determining whether the location is suitable.6 Accordingly, the ALC did not 
err in refusing to consider the existence of the restrictive covenant.7 

3 Id. 
4 Id. 
5 Bazzle v. Huff, 319 S.C. 443, 445, 462 S.E.2d 273, 274 (1995). 
5 

6 See Lones v. Blount County Beer Bd., 538 S.W.2d 386, 390 (Tenn. 1976); 
see also Bd. of Tr. of Woodland Union High School Dist. of Yolo County v. 
Munro, 329 P.2d 765, 769-70 (Cal. App. 3 Dist. 1958) (holding the alcoholic 
beverage control board did not err in granting a license where a restrictive 
covenant existed on the property, and finding the parties could bring an 
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AFFIRMED. 

SHORT and KONDUROS, JJ., concur. 

action in the courts to enforce the covenant); Barnegat City Beach Ass’n v. 
Busby, 44 N.J.L. 627, 627 (N.J. 1882) (holding the court is not required to 
consider restrictive covenants in granting a liquor license, and restrictive 
covenants do not render licenses invalid). 

We do not overlook McLeod v. Baptiste, 315 S.C. 246, 433 S.E.2d 834 
(1993) wherein the supreme court held a remote grantor lacked standing to 
enforce a restrictive covenant where the grantor no longer owned real 
property that would benefit from the covenant’s enforcement. 
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PIEPER, J.: Larry D. Evans appeals his criminal conviction for 
possession of a stolen vehicle.  On appeal, Evans maintains the trial court 
erred in overruling defense counsel’s objection to hearsay testimony.  We 
affirm.1 

FACTS 

On June 27, 2006, Evans was indicted for possession of a stolen vehicle 
in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-21-80 (1976).  At trial, William Human, 
Bobbie Hicks, and Detective Steven Reeves presented testimony regarding 
the condition of the stolen vehicle. According to Human, “[a]ll the molding 
was gone and wrecked . . . [t]he steering column busted out. . . . I had stickers 
on it.  All those was stripped off of it and all.”  Human went on to testify that 
his tool box was also missing and that Evans’ wallet containing his driver’s 
license was found in the vehicle. Following Human’s testimony, Hicks 
testified regarding the condition of the vehicle, stating, “[a]ll the siding is off 
of it.  The column is gone out of it.” Hicks further stated “[h]e had emblems 
all over the window, they were gone.” Hicks also confirmed that a tool box 
and tools belonging to Human were inside the vehicle prior to the theft. 

Following the testimony of Human and Hicks, Detective Reeves 
presented testimony regarding his investigation into the alleged theft. Reeves 
testified he spoke with Human about damage to the vehicle and the details of 
the crime. When questioned at trial regarding the vehicle’s condition, Reeves 
stated “[t]he molding is removed. Any emblems, Dodge or Dakota are 
removed from the vehicle.” When Reeves attempted to reference a statement 
by Human, Evans objected to Reeves’ testimony on the ground of hearsay. 
The trial court overruled Evans’ objection and allowed the statements. 
Reeves continued his testimony, stating, “[a]ccording to Mr. Human, when 
he and Miss Hicks picked up the vehicle in Abbeville, the steering column 
was damaged and he’s had to replace that.  I didn’t actually see that damage, 
but that’s some of the other damage that Mr. Human had told me about.”  
Reeves further indicated that a toolbox, which Human estimated was valued 
at over one thousand dollars, was missing.  

1  We decide this case without oral argument pursuant to Rule 215, SCACR.  
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In addition to the above-stated testimony, other evidence offered to 
establish Evans’ possession of the stolen vehicle was presented at trial. 
Harley Burdette, Rebecca Alexander, Catherine Johnson, and David Bolt all 
testified that the vehicle was stolen and that Evans was in possession of the 
vehicle following its theft. Alexander and Burdette further testified that 
Evans attempted to sell tools from the vehicle. It was also established that 
Evans was arrested while driving the stolen vehicle. 

At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found Evans guilty of possession 
of a stolen vehicle.  Evans was sentenced to ten years imprisonment.  This 
appeal followed. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. 
State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. 
Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001).  The admissibility of 
evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Gaster, 349 
S.C. 545, 564 S.E.2d 87 (2002).   The trial court’s ruling on the admissibility 
of evidence will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or 
the commission of legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant. 
State v. Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 77, 538 S.E.2d 257, 263 (Ct. App. 2000). 

LAW/ANALYSIS 

Evans contends the trial court erred by admitting hearsay testimony 
from Reeves regarding damage to the stolen vehicle.  Evans further asserts 
that the admission of this testimony caused prejudice, amounting to reversible 
error.  We disagree. 

Improper admission of hearsay testimony constitutes reversible error 
only when the admission causes prejudice. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 
573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). Generally, a conviction will not be set 
aside by the appellate court where error by the trial court is insubstantial and 
does not affect the result of the trial. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 499, 629 
S.E.2d 363, 366 (2006).  Accordingly, where guilt has been conclusively 
proven by competent evidence, an insubstantial error not affecting the result 
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of the trial is harmless. Id.; Arnold v. State, 309 S.C. 157, 172, 420 S.E.2d 
834, 842 (1992); State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989). 

Assuming, arguendo, that the testimony in question was improperly 
admitted by the trial court, Evans has not demonstrated reversible error. See 
Price, 368 S.C. at 499, 629 S.E.2d at 366.   Review of the record reveals 
Reeves’ testimony regarding the condition of the vehicle was merely 
cumulative as both Human and Hicks also testified to the damage sustained 
by the vehicle. See id. at 499-500, 629 S.E.2d at 366; see also State v. 
Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196-97, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448-49 (2003) (admission 
of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to 
other evidence); State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 
(1993) (finding any error in the admission of testimony that is merely 
cumulative is harmless). Prior to Reeves’ testimony, Human testified that: 
the vehicle’s molding was removed; the steering column was busted out; the 
stickers were stripped from the exterior; and a toolbox was missing.  Hicks 
also similarly testified about the molding, the steering column, and the 
emblems or stickers. 

Further, review of the record reveals other eyewitness testimony 
placing Evans in possession of the stolen vehicle as well as testimony 
indicating Evans attempted to sell tools from the vehicle; moreover, there is 
evidence that his wallet and driver’s license were found in the vehicle and 
that he was arrested while driving the stolen vehicle.  Thus, despite the 
presence of the alleged improper testimony regarding the condition of the 
vehicle, the verdict was based on an abundance of competent evidence from 
which Evans’ guilt was properly established. See State v. Lyles, 211 S.C. 
334, 45 S.E.2d 181 (1947) (the possession of recently stolen property is an 
evidential fact from which the possessor’s guilt may be inferred); State v. 
Lee, 147 S.C. 480, 145 S.E. 285 (1928) (in a prosecution for receiving stolen 
goods, guilty knowledge can be proved by showing a person was found in 
possession of recently stolen goods); State v. Williams, 350 S.C. 172, 175-76, 
564 S.E.2d 688, 690-91 (Ct. App. 2002) (possession of stolen vehicle was 
circumstantial evidence that defendant knew the vehicle was stolen).  
Therefore, the admission of Reeves’ testimony, as merely cumulative, 
insubstantial, and not affecting the result of the trial, was harmless. 
Accordingly, we find no reversible error. 
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CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, the decision of the trial court is 

AFFIRMED. 

HEARN, C.J., and CURETON, A.J., concur. 
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HUFF, J.:   William Frank Caldwell  appeals from his convictions for  
three counts of violating the eavesdropping or peeping tom statute.  Caldwell  
asserts error in the trial courts (1) refusal to sever the trials, (2) denial of his  
motion to suppress  the in-court identifications  by a victim  and a witness, (3)  
admission of alleged statements  made by Caldwell, (4) admission o f  
testimony  regarding how Caldwell’s actions made the victims feel,  and (5)  
denial of his motion for directed verdict.  We affirm.1  
 
 

FACTUAL/PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND  
 

Caldwell was indicted in three separate indictments which alleged 
Caldwell did,  on or about June 23, 2005, eavesdrop or peep on the premises  
of the Sugar Creek Homeowners Association, invading the privacy of three  
different young boys, hereinafter GT, DW, and QB.   Caldwell was found 
guilty on all  three charges, and was sentenced to three years, three years  
consecutive, and three years suspended t o one year and five years probation.   

 
Thirteen year-old GT testified that on the day in question he was  

participating in a swim  meet, swimming for the  Sugar Creek team.  During  
the swim  meet, he used the pool  deck  bathroom facilities  twice.   GT stated  
there were two sets  of bathrooms around the pool, “one for the kids” located  
on the pool deck, and “another one for the adults” in the clubhouse.  The first  
time he entered the bathroom by himself and saw a man at the  far urinal.  GT  
went to the other urinal where, because of the nature of his racing swim suit,  
he had to pull the front of the suit down to urinate.  As he did so he saw the 
man at the far urinal “looking over at [his] private.”  When asked how this  
made him feel, GT replied “uncomfortable.”  GT went to the bathroom a 
second time and encountered the same man, who was coming out of  one of  
the urinals as GT walked into the bathroom.  As GT  walked toward a urinal,  
the man turned around when he saw the young boy and went back to a urinal.   

1We decide this case without oral argument pursuant to Rule 215, 
SCACR. 
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When GT again pulled down his swim suit and began to urinate, the man 
looked “at [his] private again,” and at that point, GT tried to cover himself up 
more.  GT testified that when the man looked at him the second time, he 
“bent over and spit in the urinal and looked sideways” “to get a better look” 
at GT’s privates. GT again responded it made him feel “uncomfortable” 
when the man looked at him the second time.  GT also testified no one had 
ever made him feel the way this man did that day. 

After exiting the bathroom from this second encounter, GT found his 
mother in the crowd watching the meet and told her he needed to speak to 
her.  As his mother made her way through the chairs to follow him, GT saw 
his recent school teacher, Ms. Tate.  His mother walked up as GT explained 
to Ms. Tate that there was a man in the bathroom looking at him.  The two 
women told GT to go up on the balcony and point out the man to them. GT 
did so, and pointed out a man standing outside the boys’ bathroom.  GT made 
an in-court identification of Caldwell as the man who twice looked at his 
privates in the bathroom. 

Thirteen year old DW also testified at Caldwell’s trial. DW testified 
that in June of the previous year, he swam in a swim meet on the Sugar Creek 
team. The first time he went to the bathroom, he entered by himself and saw 
a man towards the back in the shower area.  DW went to the first urinal and 
pulled down the front of his swimsuit to urinate.  As he did so, the man, who 
had taken a position at a urinal, started to glance over at DW, looking at 
DW’s privates but not his face.  When asked how this made him feel, DW 
replied it made him uncomfortable. DW turned his back to the man, and after 
he finished urinating, he left the urinal to go swim in his events. DW went 
back to the bathroom a second time, this time with his friend JB.  When he 
entered the bathroom this second time, he saw the same man that he 
encountered the first time, standing at the sinks.  DW went to the first urinal 
and JB went to the second.  When JB finished urinating, he left the urinal 
compartment and the same man came up to that urinal.  Again the man 
glanced over, not at DW’s face, but at his privates.  DW again stated this 
made him feel uncomfortable.  He also testified no one had ever made him 
feel the way this man did on that day.  DW made an in-court identification of 
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Caldwell as the man in the bathroom who looked at his privates twice on the 
day in question. 

JB, who was thirteen years old at the time of trial and also swam on the 
Sugar Creek team, likewise testified to events that occurred at the swim meet 
on June 23, 2005.  JB stated that he and DW entered the boys’ bathroom on 
the pool deck and saw an older man at the sink.  JB used the far urinal and 
DW used the first one.  JB stated he finished urinating first and went to wash 
his hands.  As he did so, the man went to the second urinal.  When JB 
finished washing his hands, he observed the man at the second urinal turn his 
head to the side and look down at DW’s privates.  The man was not looking 
at DW’s face.  JB and DW left the bathroom and went straight to swim in 
their event.  JB made an in-court identification of Caldwell as the man 
looking at DW’s privates that day. 

Twelve year old QB also testified to an encounter with Caldwell while 
swimming on the Sugar Creek team in June of 2005.  QB went alone to the 
bathroom for the boys located on the pool deck.  There was a man in there at 
a urinal.  QB went to a urinal and pulled down the front of his swimsuit to 
urinate.  As he did so, the man looked down at QB’s privates.  QB testified 
this made him feel “really awkward.” Like GT and DW, QB stated no one 
had ever made him feel the way this man made him feel that day. QB made 
an in-court identification of Caldwell as the man who looked at him in the 
bathroom. QB further testified, after he left the bathroom, he later saw the 
same man talking to DW’s father outside the bathroom. 

Ms. Tate, one of the presidents of the Sugar Creek swim team, testified 
that at the meet on June 23, 2005, she saw GT, whom she taught in fifth 
grade, and he appeared to be “very upset.”  She asked GT what was wrong, 
and he told her “there was a man in the bathroom that was watching him go 
to the bathroom.” GT’s mother came up to them as GT explained this to Ms. 
Tate.  The two women sent GT up to the balcony as they walked over to the 
bathroom area.  GT pointed out a man in that area to them. Ms. Tate then 
went to find someone who could help with the situation while GT’s mother 
stayed in the area to keep boys out of the bathroom.  Ms. Tate found DW’s 
father and led him back to the area in front of the bathrooms, where the man 
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was still standing.  DW’s father approached the man and tried to engage him 
in conversation.  Without objection, Ms. Tate made an in-court identification 
of Caldwell as the man pointed out by GT that day. 

DW’s father testified that during the swim meet on June 23, 2005, Ms. 
Tate approached him and told him what was occurring as she led him over to 
the bathroom area.  After she pointed out Caldwell to him, DW’s father 
walked up to the man and introduced himself, attempting to engage the man 
in conversation.  The man shook his hand, but never gave his name and 
apparently did not want to talk.  At some point, DW’s father asked the man if 
he had a child on either of the swim teams. The man told him he had an 
eleven year-old boy on the Sugar Creek team by the name of Trey Dowden. 
When confronted with the fact that DW’s father knew most of the boys in 
that age group on the team, the man claimed they were new to the team. 
DW’s father then asked the man what events his son was swimming in, and 
when the man stated he did not know, he told the man he would get a heat 
sheet that listed the children and the events. When he stepped back to get the 
heat sheet, he turned around and the man had left.  DW’s father spotted the 
man and walked toward him, holding up the sheet and telling him they could 
then look up his son. The man exited the pool area and DW’s father followed 
him. The man then ran away into a residential area and DW’s father pursued 
him for twenty or twenty-five minutes until some police officers arrived and 
apprehended the man.  Without objection, DW’s father identified Caldwell as 
the man he had pursued that day.  DW’s father further testified there was no 
Trey Dowden in the eleven and twelve age group on either of the swim 
teams. 

Deputy Chuck Porter arrived on the scene and spoke with Caldwell. 
After the officer advised him of his Miranda2 rights, Caldwell indicated he 
understood his rights and was willing to speak to him without an attorney 
present.  Officer Porter than asked Caldwell if he could tell him “what’s 
going on.”  Caldwell stated he had been confronted by someone he believed 
to be a parent over at the pool and he had been “accused of doing something 
to one of the little boys in the restroom.”  Officer Porter asked, “Well, did 

2Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966). 
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you?”  Caldwell replied that “[h]e was there to look at the boys, but hadn’t  
touched anyone.”  When asked if Caldwell said anything else, the officer  
testified Caldwell “said he preferred to look at the younger  boys.”    

 
ISSUES  

 
I.  Did the trial court err in refusing to grant Caldwell’s  motion for  
separate trials on each indictment?  
 
II.  Did the trial court err in refusing to suppress the in-court identification  
by the minors DW and JB?  
 
III.  Did the trial court err in allowing testimony of the  alleged statements  
made by the defendant to Officer Porter?  
 
IV.  Did the trial court err in allowing the victims to testify how  they felt  
when Caldwell looked at them?  
 
V.  Did the trial court err in refusing to direct  a verdict in favor of  
Caldwell?   
 
 

LAW/ANALYSIS  
 

I. Motion for Separate Trials  
 
 On appeal, Caldwell contends the trial  court erred in refusing to grant  
his motion for separate trials on each of the indictments.  He contends the  
joint trial on the indictments was extremely prejudicial such that the trial  
court committed error in failing to sever them. We disagree.  
 

A motion for  severance is addressed to the sound discretion of  the trial  
court and the court’s  ruling will not  be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of  
that discretion.   State v.  Harris, 351 S.C. 643, 652, 572 S.E.2d 267, 272  
(2002).   Criminal charges can be tried t ogether where they (1) arise out  of a  
single chain of circumstances, (2) are proved by the same evidence, (3) are of  
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the same general nature, and (4) no real right of the defendant has been 
prejudiced. State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 164, 478 S.E.2d 260, 265 (1996). 
Where the offenses charged in separate indictments are of the same general 
nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place and 
character, the trial judge has the discretionary power to order the indictments 
tried together if the defendant’s substantive rights would not be prejudiced. 
State v. Cutro, 365 S.C. 366, 374, 618 S.E.2d 890, 894 (2005); State v. 
Smith, 322 S.C. 107, 109, 470 S.E.2d 364, 365 (1996). 

Offenses are considered to be of the same general nature where they are 
interconnected. State v. Simmons, 352 S.C. 342, 350, 573 S.E.2d 856, 860 
(Ct. App. 2002). Conversely, offenses which are of the same nature, but 
which do not arise out of a single chain of circumstances and are not provable 
by the same evidence may not properly be tried together. Id. 

Caldwell does not dispute that the indictments are of a similar nature 
and arise out of a single chain of circumstances.  He contends, however, that 
the individual charges cannot be proven with the same evidence, as each 
charge required separate evidence from the others. He further asserts that a 
single trial of all three charges resulted in extreme prejudice inasmuch as he 
was unable to sequester the witnesses and there was an unfair collective 
impact of emotional testimony of the several victims.  We disagree. 

All three charges here arise out of a single chain of circumstances, 
occurring on the same afternoon, during the same event, and at the same 
place.  While the alleged crimes involved pertained to three separate children 
necessitating some individual evidence as to each of the charges, much of the 
evidence produced at trial pertained to each of the separate charges. Thus, 
the separate offenses are proved by the same evidence.  We find the fact that 
some additional evidence from the individual victims may be necessary to 
prove the individual crimes is not fatal to the joinder of the charges. 

We likewise do not find compelling Caldwell’s argument regarding the 
sequestering of witnesses.  A party is not entitled to the sequestration of 
witnesses as a matter of right. State v. Fulton, 333 S.C. 359, 375, 509 S.E.2d 
819, 827 (Ct. App. 1998). Whether or not witnesses are sequestered is a 
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matter within the discretion of the trial court. State v. Sullivan, 277 S.C. 35, 
46, 282 S.E.2d 838, 844 (1981), superseded in part by State v. Gilchrist, 342 
S.C. 369, 536 S.E.2d 868 (2000).  Further, the mere opportunity for the 
State’s witnesses to compare testimony is insufficient to compel 
sequestration. Id. Thus, it is not clear that, had Caldwell been tried 
separately on each charge, he would have been entitled to sequester the 
witnesses.  In any event, we find no evidence of record that his inability to 
sequester the witnesses unduly prejudiced his case. 

Finally, we find meritless Caldwell’s assertion that the collective 
emotional testimony of the child victims unduly prejudiced him.  Caldwell 
does not argue on appeal that the testimony of the individual victims would 
be inadmissible at the other trials if he were to be tried separately on each 
indictment. See Rule 404(b), SCRE; State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 
803 (1923) (evidence of other crimes may be admissible when it tends to 
establish (1) motive; (2) intent; (3) the absence of mistake or accident; (4) a 
common scheme or plan embracing the commission of two or more crimes so 
related to each other that proof of one tends to establish the proof of the 
other; or (5) the identity of the person charged with the present crime). Thus, 
Caldwell might still be faced with the children’s “collective” testimony were 
he to be tried separately on each charge. At any rate, we do not believe the 
testimony of the child victims in this case can be accurately described as 
emotional.  We simply find no prejudice to Caldwell in the trial court’s denial 
of his motion to sever. 

II.  In-court Identifications by DW and JB 

Although Caldwell objected to the in-court identification by all three of 
the child victims and the child witness at trial, on appeal he only challenges 
the identifications by victim DW and witness JB.  We find no error. 

At the request of defense counsel, the court held a Neil v. Biggers3 

hearing to determine the admissibility of the identification of Caldwell by the 

3Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972). 
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child victims and witness.  Deputy Ken Hinkle testified in the hearing that he 
worked for the sheriff’s office and was assigned as the community patrol 
officer for Sugar Creek.  On the day of the swim meet, he met with GT, JB, 
DW, and QB in his office at the clubhouse.  He interviewed each boy 
separately, in the presence of their parents.  The boys did not give detailed 
descriptions of the man in the bathroom, but indicated it was a white male 
and was “the person that [DW’s father] chased.”  The following day, Deputy 
Hinkle met with three of the boys.  At that time he obtained a written 
statement from GT, DW, and JB.  Deputy Hinkle wrote their statements as 
the boys told him what had occurred.  However, the deputy acknowledged 
that the last sentence of each of the boys’ statements was not told to him by 
the boys, but was written in the statements by the deputy. The last sentence 
in each statement said, “I now know the man to be William Frank Caldwell.” 
When asked why he included that in the statements, Deputy Hinkle 
responded that “[i]t was the same person . . . they saw in the bathroom . . . 
they pointed out to [DW’s father], to the person that he chased, to the person 
that we took custody of,” and he “simply condensed it into a name.”  Deputy 
Hinkle took a statement from DW’s father, who identified the individual he 
chased.  When talking to the boys, they referred to the person in question as 
the man DW’s father chased.  The deputy denied ever showing the boys a 
picture or a lineup of Caldwell or ever bringing Caldwell in front of the boys 
for them to make an identification.  Deputy Hinkle did not know whether the 
three boys knew Caldwell’s name before he wrote it in their statements. 

The trial court, while acknowledging there was a “suggestive statement 
made at the end of the written statements as to the name identity of the 
individual,” found the identification testimony was admissible.  The court 
reflected the basis of the identification by the boys was tied together and, 
while noting it was subject to cross-examination and the exploration of 
credibility before the jury, the court determined the procedure was not 
unnecessarily suggestive and was reliable based upon all the evidence. 

A criminal defendant may be deprived of due process of law by an 
identification procedure which is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to 
irreparable mistaken identification. State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600 
S.E.2d 523, 526 (2004). An in-court identification of an accused is 
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inadmissible if a suggestive  out-of-court identification procedure created  a 
very substantial likelihood o f  irreparable misidentification.   Id.   Generally, a  
trial court must hold an in camera hearing when the State offers a witness  
whose testimony identifies the defendant as the person who committed the  
crime,  and the defendant challenges the in-court identification as being 
tainted by a previous, illegal identification or confrontation.   State v. Ramsey, 
345 S.C. 607, 613, 550 S.E.2d 294,  297 (2001).4   The purpose of the in  
camera hearing is  to determine whether the in-court identification was  of  
independent origin or was the tainted product of the circumstances  
surrounding the prior, out-of-court identification.   State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 
586, 594, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005).    

 
We find no evidence the in-court identifications of Caldwell by DW  

and JB were in any way tainted by the de puty supplying Caldwell’s name to 
them.   Although we do not condone law  enforcement including information  
in a statement that  was not specifically provided by the witness, we simply  
find no indication that placing a name w ith the suspect in any way tainted the 
in-court  identifications  by the two boys such that their visual identification of  

                                                 
4Although the State opposed a Neil v. Biggers  hearing at the trial level  

arguing i t was unnecessary where the in-court identification f orms the first  
identification the witness made, it does not so argue on appeal.  Because we  
find no error in the admission of the in-court identifications, we express no 
opinion on whether such a hearing was required under the circumstances.   
See  State v. Lewis, 363 S.C. 37,  43,  609 S.E.2d 515, 518  (2005)  (holding  
Neil v. Biggers  does not apply to a first-time in-court identification because  
the judge is present  and can  adequately address relevant problems; the jury is  
physically present to witness the identification, rather than merely hearing 
testimony about it; and cross-examination offers defendants an adequate 
safeguard or remedy against suggestive examinations); but  cf.  State v.  
Simmons, 308 S.C. 80,  82-83,  417 S.E.2d 92, 93  (1992),  (holding  in camera 
hearing was needed to determine whether the in-court identification was of  
independent origin or was the tainted product of the circumstances  
surrounding a  bond hearing  where a witness saw a suspect  at a bond hearing 
prior to his in-court identification of the suspect  and the  witness may have 
gotten a “fix” on the suspect at the bond hearing). 
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the defendant  in court was no longer  of independent  origin, or that supplying 
the name created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable  
misidentification.  

 
III.  Admission of Statements  

 
On appeal, Caldwell raises two grounds for error in the admission of  

his alleged statements to Officer Porter.  He first contends the statement that 
he preferred to look at younger boys  was inadmissible character evidence.   
He further asserts  no alleged statements made by him to the officer were  
admissible because the State failed to properly disclose the substance of the  
statements to him  pursuant  to Rule 5, SCRCrimP.  We find no reversible  
error.  

 
The court held a  Jackson v. Denno5  hearing on the admissibility of  

statements made by Caldwell to Officer Porter.  During the hearing, the  
officer testified that when he a sked Caldwell what was going on, Caldwell  
made the statement he had been confronted outside the restroom and accused  
of doing something to the little boys inside the bathroom.   When asked if he  
had, Caldwell responded that “he was there looking at the boys, but he hadn’t  
touched anyone.”   Officer Porter next  asked Caldwell if he was gay, to which  
Caldwell stated that he was, but  he preferred younger men.  When questioned 
about  the whereabouts  of  his report  on the matter, Officer Porter stated he  
prepared it and turned it in, but it was apparently lost.  He subsequently  
prepared a secondary report  dated April 9,  2006 from memory after the 
original report could not be located.  Caldwell testified during the hearing and  
denied making these statements to Officer Porter.    

 
Following the hearing, the defense objected to the a dmission of the  

statements based on their  relevance and the prejudicial effect, as well as the  
State’s failure to comply with their discovery request.  The trial court denied 
the motion to suppress based on defense’s discovery violation argument.  It  

5Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964). 
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further ruled the statement that Caldwell was gay was not relevant, and it 
would not allow any comment as to Caldwell’s sexual orientation.  It 
determined, however, that the other statements were relevant and admissible. 

A.  Improper Character Evidence 

We first question whether Caldwell’s assertion regarding improper 
character evidence is properly preserved for our review.  Caldwell maintains 
on appeal the trial court erred in allowing testimony that he preferred to look 
at younger boys into evidence as such testimony is improper character 
evidence under Rule 404, SCRE, as well as the case of State v. Nelson, 331 
S.C. 1, 501 S.E.2d 716 (1998).  However, at trial defense counsel clearly 
objected to the evidence on the basis that any probative value was 
outweighed by the prejudicial effect. Counsel never mentioned either Rule 
404 or the Nelson case.  While he did quickly reference character when he 
argued that the State was attempting “to evoke strong emotion against 
somebody whose character may or may not be into evidence,” this argument 
appears to have been made in conjunction with his assertion that the 
statement regarding his sexual orientation was inadmissible.  The trial court 
ultimately agreed with the defense on the sexual orientation issue, and the 
alleged statement that Caldwell was gay was not admitted into evidence. 
Because the argument raised on appeal does not appear to have been 
specifically raised below, it may not be preserved on appeal. See State v. 
Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) (noting “[a] party 
need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it 
must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground”); State v. 
Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (holding party may 
not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal; where appellant did not 
object to testimony at trial on the grounds raised on appeal, that it was 
improper character evidence, but objected only on the basis of relevancy, 
issue was not preserved for review). 

Assuming arguendo the argument as to character evidence is properly 
preserved, we nonetheless find no error.  Generally, “[e]vidence of a person’s 
character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving 
action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion.” Rule 404(a), SCRE. 
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In State v. Nelson, 331 S.C. 1, 501 S.E.2d 716 (1998), the appellant was 
convicted at trial of four counts of first degree CSC with a minor and four 
counts of lewd act on a child. Nelson made post-arrest statements to police 
indicating he was uncomfortable around adult women and that he had 
fantasies about children. The trial judge overruled Nelson’s objection to 
testimony concerning Nelson’s fantasies or likes or dislikes of females. On 
appeal from this court’s affirmance of Nelson’s convictions, the South 
Carolina Supreme Court reversed, holding the trial court erred in allowing the 
jury to hear those statements, as Nelson’s “general sexual attitudes were not 
relevant or material to the crime charged because they were admitted to show 
character”.  Id. at 16, 501 S.E.2d at 724. 

Subsequent to the Nelson decision, this court addressed the issue of 
whether testimony concerning a defendant’s statement to police indicating he 
had a problem with his sexual desires constituted improper character 
evidence. State v. Tufts, 355 S.C. 493, 585 S.E.2d 523 (Ct. App. 2003), cert. 
denied (June 24, 2004).  In Tufts, the appellant was charged with and 
convicted of criminal sexual conduct in the third degree in regard to an 
encounter with a patient at Aiken Regional Medical Center.  While being 
interviewed by the police, Tufts told a detective he had been arrested and 
charged in a sexual matter in Augusta, Georgia in 1995 while he worked at 
the University Hospital. When the detective told Tufts it sounded like he 
may have a problem, Tufts stated that he knew he had a problem with his 
sexual desires. Id. at 495, 585 S.E.2d at 524.  Following an in camera 
hearing on the matter, the trial court determined the alleged statement 
concerning Tufts’s prior charge in Georgia was inadmissible.  However, it 
ruled that the portion of the conversation concerning Tufts’s knowledge that 
he had a problem with his sexual desires could be construed as a confession 
and was therefore admissible. Id. at 496, 585 S.E.2d at 524. 

On appeal, Tufts asserted the detective’s testimony constituted 
improper character evidence, relying primarily on Nelson.  While 
acknowledging the statement in question was similar to the type of evidence 
presented in Nelson which was disallowed by the court, we found the Nelson 
decision distinguishable and affirmed Tufts’s conviction. First, we noted in 
Nelson that, aside from the statements made by Nelson that he was 
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uncomfortable around adult women and had fantasies about children, the 
State sought to admit a number of toys, tapes of children’s shows, 
storybooks, and photographs of young children. The State presented expert 
testimony that pedophiles often maintain a large stash of childlike items. 
Over Nelson’s objection, the trial court ruled “the evidence was probative not 
of a ‘character issue’ but of a ‘personality characteristic,’ i.e., that the 
defendant was a pedophile.”  Id. at 497-98, 585 S.E.2d at 525. In Tufts, our 
court concluded the statements made by Tufts were not introduced to show 
his bad character, but were admitted as a confession to the crime with which 
he was charged.  We stated: 

In Nelson, the offered evidence and the defendant’s statements 
were relevant only to prove that the defendant was a pedophile. 
The fact that the defendant was a pedophile spoke only to his 
propensity to commit the charged offense, and evidence thereof 
was thus inadmissible.  In the present case, however, Tufts’s 
statements were not admitted to show his character;  instead, they 
were admitted as a confession to the specific crime charged. 

Id. at 498, 585 S.E.2d at 526. 

Similarly, Caldwell’s statements that he “was there to look at the boys, 
but hadn’t touched anyone” and that he “preferred to look at the younger 
boys” were not introduced to show his bad character, but were intended to 
convey to Officer Porter that he had committed the offenses with which he 
was subsequently charged, i.e. being a peeping tom.  Accordingly, as in 
Tufts, the statements were properly admitted as a confession to the charged 
crimes. 

At any rate, we find any error in the admission of this evidence to be 
harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence showing Caldwell entered 
and/or remained in the boys’ bathroom for extended periods of time, furtively 
viewing the privates of these young boys. See State v. Brown 344 S.C. 70, 
74, 543 S.E.2d 552, 555 (S.C. 2001) (the erroneous admission of character 
evidence is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if its impact is minimal in 
the context of the entire record). 
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B.  Failure to Comply with Discovery 

Caldwell further asserts the trial court erred in admitting the alleged 
statements made to Officer Porter because the State violated Rule 5(a)(3), 
SCRCrimP by failing to properly disclose the substance of the alleged 
statements in a timely manner.  We find no error. 

“Upon request by a defendant, the prosecution shall permit the 
defendant to inspect and copy or photograph: . . . the substance of any oral 
statement which the prosecution intends to offer in evidence at the trial made 
by the defendant whether before or after arrest in response to interrogation by 
any person then known to the defendant to be a prosecution agent.”  Rule 
5(a)(1)(A), SCRCrimP.  “The prosecution shall respond to the defendant’s 
request for disclosure no later then thirty (30) days after the request is made, 
or within such other time as may be ordered by the court.”  Rule 5(a)(3), 
SCRCrimP. A Rule 5 violation is not reversible unless prejudice is shown. 
State v. Landon, 370 S.C. 103, 108, 634 S.E.2d 660, 663 (2006). 

We find no prejudice to Caldwell such as would entitle him to 
suppression of the statements.  The statements, as referred to in Officer 
Porter’s supplemental report, were admittedly turned over to the defense in 
April 2006. Caldwell contends the State’s failure to disclose the alleged 
statements until that time prejudiced him because, after that point, the 
opportunity afforded to him to plead to only a single indictment had passed. 
However, a defendant has no constitutional right to plea bargain. State v. 
Chisolm, 312 S.C. 235, 237, 439 S.E.2d 850, 852 (1994).  Thus, Caldwell 
was not prejudiced by the delayed disclosure. See Chisolm, 312 S.C. at 237-
38, 439 S.E.2d at 851-52 (holding, even though assistant solicitor acted 
inappropriately by communicating with a party known to be represented by 
counsel and by surreptitiously tape recording the conversation, assertion 
appellant was prejudiced as evidenced by the absence of plea negotiations 
was insufficient inasmuch as a defendant has no constitutional right to plea 
bargain). 
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IV.  Admission of Testimony on How the Victims Felt 

Caldwell next asserts the trial court erred in allowing the victims to 
testify to how it made them feel when he looked at them in the bathroom, and 
whether anyone had ever made them feel that way before.  He argues this line 
of questioning was irrelevant and appealed to the passion and sympathy of 
the jury such that the prejudice to him outweighed any probative value.  We 
disagree. 

For evidence to be admissible, it must be relevant.  Rule 402, SCRE. 
Relevant evidence is “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of 
any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more 
probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, 
SCRE. “Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less 
probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears, and 
it is not required that the inference sought should necessarily follow from the 
fact proved.” State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 126-27, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. 
App. 2004). “Evidence is admissible if ‘logically relevant’ to establish a 
material fact or element of the crime; it need not be ‘necessary’ to the State’s 
case in order to be admitted.”  Id. at 127, 606 S.E.2d at 513. Relevant 
evidence may be excluded where its probative value is substantially 
outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE; State v. 
Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 210, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006). Evidence is 
unfairly prejudicial if it has an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an 
improper basis, such as an emotional one. State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 
547, 552 S.E.2d 300, 311 (2001). A trial court’s decision regarding the 
comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be 
reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. McLeod, 362 S.C. 73, 
81, 606 S.E.2d 215, 219 (Ct. App. 2004). Determination of relevancy is 
largely within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent 
an abuse of that discretion. Sweat, 362 S.C. at 127, 606 S.E.2d at 513. 

The “peeping tom” statutory section with which Caldwell was charged 
provides, in part, that a peeping tom includes one whose conduct is such that 
it “tends to invade the privacy of others.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-17-470(A) 
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(2003).6 While the determination of whether the conduct of Caldwell tended 
to invade the privacy of the three young victims is ultimately for the jury, we 
believe the specific testimony in question, although maybe not necessary to 
the State’s case, is logically relevant to the establishment of that element of 
the crime.  Further, the record shows the trial court limited the State to 
eliciting a concise statement from the victims on the privacy issue to keep 
any prejudice to a minimum, and the State did not stray beyond those 
parameters.  Accordingly, we do not believe the probative value of the 
testimony is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. 

V.  Denial of Motion for Directed Verdict 

Finally, Caldwell raises three grounds on appeal as to why the trial 
court erred in denying his motion for directed verdict.  He maintains the State 
failed to establish that (1) he was on the premises of another, (2) he spied 
upon or invaded the privacy of another, or (3) that the looks cast by him arose 
to the level required by the peeping tom statute. 

On appeal from the denial of a motion for directed verdict, an appellate 
court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. 
Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). The trial court, in a 
directed verdict motion, is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of 
evidence, not with its weight. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 136, 620 
S.E.2d 737, 743 (2005). A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when 
the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. State v. 
McCombs, 368 S.C. 489, 493, 629 S.E.2d 361, 362-63 (2006). If there is any 
direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to 
prove the guilt of the accused, we must find the case was properly submitted 
to the jury. Id. at 493, 629 S.E.2d at 363. 

6Caldwell cites to language in the statute defining the phrase “[p]lace 
where a person would have a reasonable expectation of privacy” in support of 
his argument this testimony was not relevant.  However, this phrase applies 
to the section of the statute prohibiting the crime of voyeurism and is not 
found in the section prohibiting eavesdropping and peeping.  S.C. Code Ann. 
§ 16-17-470(A), (B), and (D) (2003). 

51 



  
 

 
    

 
 

  
  

 
 

  
   

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

    
 

 
 

 
   

    

 
 

   
  

 
    

 
   

   

Caldwell was charged with violating our peeping tom statute. 
Specifically, the indictments charged that Caldwell did, “unlawfully 
eavesdrop or peep on or about the premises of the Sugar Creek Homeowners 
Association, or did go upon the premises of the Sugar Creek Homeowners 
Association, for the purpose of becoming an eavesdropper or a Peeping Tom 
invading the privacy of [the victims].”  The peeping tom statute provides in 
pertinent part as follows: 

It is unlawful for a person to be an eavesdropper or a peeping tom 
on or about the premises of another or to go upon the premises of 
another for the purpose of becoming an eavesdropper or a 
peeping tom. The term “peeping tom”, as used in this section, is 
defined as a person who peeps through windows, doors, or other 
like places, on or about the premises of another, for the purpose 
of spying upon or invading the privacy of the persons spied upon 
and any other conduct of a similar nature, that tends to invade the 
privacy of others. 

S.C. Code Ann. Section 16-17-470(A) (2003). 

A.  Premises of Another 

Caldwell first contends the State failed to meet its burden of showing 
he was “on or about the premises of another.”  He asserts the evidence shows 
he was clearly on public property and that inherent in the statute is the 
requirement that the accused’s presence be unlawful on the premises.  We 
disagree. 

The record shows, although the swim meet was open to the public, the 
pool area is on private property.  Further, the State presented evidence that it 
was uncommon for people who are not family members or friends of the 
child participants to attend these swim meets. 

Caldwell relies primarily on this court’s opinion in Herald Publ’g Co. 
v. Barnwell, 291 S.C. 4, 351 S.E.2d 878 (Ct. App. 1986). There, our court 
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held the peeping tom/eavesdropping statute was inapplicable to the conduct 
of newspaper reporters who sought to overhear proceedings of city council 
while it was in executive session. We find Herald Publ’g Co. to be 
distinguishable. That was a civil case wherein newspaper publishers brought 
an action against members of city council alleging that council violated the 
open-meeting requirement of the South Carolina Freedom of Information 
Act.  Council denied the alleged violations and counterclaimed, alleging that 
newspapers had violated the Act by eavesdropping on the executive session. 
This court affirmed the trial court’s denial of injunctive relief to city council, 
noting “there is no evidence that the reporters did anything to enable them to 
overhear what was going on in the executive session other than to wait in the 
place provided as a waiting room for reporters and other members of the 
public.”  Because the reporters were on public property, in a place provided 
to them and other members of the public at the time of the alleged actions, 
they were not “on or about the premises of another.”  Id. at 12-13, 351 S.E.2d 
at 883.  Here, Caldwell clearly was not on public property. 

We do not read into the statute, as does Caldwell, that an accused must 
be unlawfully upon the premises prior to the objectionable conduct for the 
statute to apply.  There is no such language in the statute.  Certainly there are 
those situations where one might be lawfully upon the premises of another 
and still invade the privacy of another by peeping in violation of the statute. 
Accordingly, the State has presented evidence Caldwell was on private 
property and that he was peeping “on or about the premises of another.” 

B.  Spying upon or Invading the Privacy of Another 

Next Caldwell maintains the State failed to present evidence that he 
either spied upon or invaded the privacy of another.  He argues there is no 
evidence he spied, because the statute requires one to look “through 
windows, doors, or other like places, on or about the premises of another” in 
order to be spying.  He further asserts there is no evidence he invaded the 
privacy of another because there could be no expectation of privacy in the 
unpartitioned urinals in the Sugar Creek bathroom.  We disagree. 
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First, the statute does not limit the proscribed behavior of a peeping 
tom to one who looks “through windows, doors, or other like places,” but 
also prohibits “any other conduct of a similar nature, that tends to invade the 
privacy of others.” We conclude, while there is no evidence Caldwell looked 
“through” any windows, doors, or the such, there is evidence of “other 
conduct of a similar nature,” tending to invade the privacy of others.7 

Accordingly, the State did present evidence Caldwell was on the premises of 
another for the purpose of spying upon another. 

Further, while Caldwell correctly points out that there was no physical 
barrier, such as a partition, to afford the young boys complete privacy, we 
find, under the facts of this case, the victims did in fact have an expectation 
of privacy such that there is evidence Caldwell was on the premises of 
another for the purpose of invading that privacy. The evidence shows the 
children were participating in a swim meet on private property.  The young, 
male victims used the boys’ bathroom on the pool deck that was provided 
“for the kids,” while another bathroom for the adults was located in the 
clubhouse.  While in the boys’ bathroom, the three victims encountered 
Caldwell at least five separate times. The record shows Caldwell, on more 
than one occasion, was either in another area of the bathroom or appeared to 
be exiting the bathroom when he purposely came back to one of the urinals 
just as a victim went to use the other urinal.  There is evidence that on each 
occasion Caldwell specifically looked directly at the boys’ privates and, on at 
least one occasion, bent over and spit in the urinal and looked sideways in 
order to get a better look at the privates of one of the children.  We find there 
is more than sufficient evidence Caldwell invaded the privacy of his three 
young victims, inasmuch as children should reasonably expect a certain 
degree of privacy when urinating in a bathroom that, when respected, would 
protect them from peering adults. 

7It should be noted, while Caldwell challenged the constitutionality of 
the statute at trial, in particular the phrase “other conduct of a similar nature, 
that tends to invade the privacy of others,” as being overly broad, he does not 
raise that issue on appeal. 
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C.  Looks Cast by Appellant 

Finally, Caldwell argues he was entitled to a directed verdict because 
the alleged looks cast by him did not arise to the level required by South 
Carolina Code Ann. Section 16-17-470(D)(3) (2003), which provides “As 
used in this section . . . ‘View’ means the intentional looking upon of another 
person for more than a brief period of time, in other than a casual or cursory 
manner . . . .”  As previously noted, subsection (D) of this statute clearly 
refers to the terms used in subsection (B) of the statute which prohibits the 
crime of voyeurism.  S.C. Code Ann. § 16-17-470(B) and (D) (2003). 
Subsection (A) of the statute prohibits one from “peep[ing] through windows, 
doors, or other like places . . . and any other conduct of a similar nature, that 
tends to invade the privacy of others.”  S.C. Code. Ann. § 16-17-470(A) 
(2003).  “Peep” has been defined alternatively as “to look cautiously or slyly; 
a brief look: glance; a furtive look.”  Webster’s Ninth New Collegiate 
Dictionary 867 (9th ed. 1990).  There is clearly evidence that Caldwell 
peeped at each of the young victims’ privates.  Finally, even if we were to 
assume arguendo subsection (D) of the statute applied, we find there is 
evidence Caldwell did intentionally look at the privates of the three young 
victims for more than just a brief period of time in other than a casual or 
cursory manner. 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing reasons, we find no reversible error in the trial 
court’s refusal to sever the trials, denial of Caldwell’s motion to suppress the 
two boys’ in-court identifications, admission of alleged statements made by 
Caldwell, admission of testimony regarding how Caldwell’s actions made the 
victims feel, and denial of Caldwell’s motion for directed verdict. 
Accordingly, Caldwell’s convictions are 

AFFIRMED. 

WILLIAMS, JJ., concurs. 

55 



  
 

 
 

  
 

 

   

  
     

 
 

 
 
  

 
 

KITTREDGE, JJ., concurs in result. 

KITTREDGE, J.: I concur in result but write separately as I believe it 
was error to admit the victims’ testimony concerning how they felt when 
Caldwell stared at their genitals.  As the defense points out, the presence or 
absence of a victim’s “feelings” is irrelevant under the “peeping tom statute” 
because a victim’s emotional response has no bearing on any element of the 
crime.  Indeed, in many such prosecutions, the victim is unaware of the 
peeping tom's presence and the invasion of privacy.  I concur in result as this 
error was harmless due to the overwhelming evidence of guilt. State v. 
Garner, 304 S.C. 220, 222, 403 S.E.2d 631, 632 (1991) (holding improperly 
admitted evidence was harmless error given the overwhelming evidence of 
guilt). 
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